
Redwood Coast Energy Authority 
633 3rd Street, Eureka, CA  95501 
Phone: (707) 269-1700    Toll-Free (800) 931-7323     Fax: (707) 269-1777     
E-mail:  info@redwoodenergy.org     Web:  www.redwoodenergy.org 

 
       

COMMUNITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEETING 
Jefferson Community Center Auditorium March 12, 2024 
1000 B Street, Eureka, CA 95501 Tuesday, 6 - 7:30 p.m. 

ADDITIONAL EASTERN HUMBOLDT LOCATION FOR THIS MEETING 
Member Luna Latimer will attend this meeting via teleconference from the Mid-Klamath 

Watershed Council building conference room in Orleans, next to the Post Office: 
38150 State Highway 96, Orleans, CA, 95556. 

Any member of the public needing special accommodation to participate in this meeting 
or access the meeting materials should email LTaketa@redwoodenergy.org or call (707) 
269-1700 at least 3 business days before the meeting. Assistive listening devices are 
available. 

Pursuant to Government Code section 54957.5, all writings or documents relating to any 
item on this agenda which have been provided to a majority of the Community Advisory 
Committee, including those received less than 72 hours prior to the Committee’s meeting, 
will be made available to the public at www.RedwoodEnergy.org. 
 
NOTE:  Speakers wishing to distribute materials to the Committee at the meeting, please 

provide 17 copies to the Board Clerk. 
 

THIS IS A HYBRID IN-PERSON AND VIRTUAL MEETING. 

The Community Advisory Committee meets in-person. When attending, please socially 
distance as much as possible and be courteous to those who choose to wear a mask. 
 
To participate in the meeting by phone, call (669) 900-6833 or (253) 215-8782. Enter 
webinar ID: 822 2338 1610. To participate in the meeting online, join the Zoom webinar 
at https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82223381610.  
 

To comment by phone or online during the public comment periods, raise your hand 
in the online Zoom webinar, or press star (*) 9 on your phone. When it is your turn to 
speak, a staff member will ask you to unmute your phone or computer. You will have 3 
minutes to speak, subject to the Chair’s discretion. 
 

You may email written comments to PublicComment@redwoodenergy.org. Please 
write the agenda item number in the subject line. Comments will be included in the 
meeting record but not read aloud during the meeting.  
 

Meeting participation may be easier if you download the Zoom application, but you do 
not need to install Zoom on your computer. After clicking the webinar link above, click 
“start from your browser.” 

1

mailto:info@redwoodenergy.org
file://Rceadiskstation/Administration/Board%20of%20Directors/Local%20Settings/Local%20Settings/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/OLK48/www.redwoodenergy.org
mailto:LTaketa@redwoodenergy.org
http://www.redwoodenergy.org/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82223381610
mailto:PublicComment@redwoodenergy.org


COMMUNITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
MEETING AGENDA 

 
 

Agenda Item / 
What 

How / Action 
Underlined actions indicate that a vote is needed. When 

1. Open 
 
 

Roll Call:  
Norman Bell Luna Latimer 
Elizabeth Burks Ethan Lawton 
Deborah Dukes Dennis Leonardi, Chair 
Colin Fiske Kit Mann 
Larry Goldberg Emily Morris 
Chris Honar Jeff Trirogoff 
Richard Johnson Jerome Qiriazi, V. Chair 
 Kris Mobley,  

     Board Liaison 
 
Remote member participation: 
 
Action (if needed): Approve teleconference 
participation request for this meeting by 
committee member pursuant to Brown Act 
revisions of AB 2449 due to an emergency 
circumstance to be briefly described. 
 
Review meeting agenda and goals. 

6-6:05 p.m. 
(5 min.) 

2. Non-Agenda 
Item Public 
Comment 

This item is provided for the public to address the Committee 
on matters not on the agenda. At the end of public comments, 
the Committee may respond to statements, or refer requests 
requiring action to the Executive Director or the Board of 
Directors. 

6:05 – 6:10 p.m. 
(5 min.) 

3. Consent 
Calendar 

All matters on the Consent Calendar are considered to be 
routine by the CAC and are enacted in one motion. There is no 
separate discussion of any of these items. If discussion is 
required, that item is removed from the Consent Calendar and 
considered separately. At the end of the reading of the Consent 
Calendar, CAC members or members of the public can request 
that an item be removed for separate discussion. 

Actions: 

3.1. Approve February 13, 2024, CAC Special 
Meeting Minutes. 

6:10 – 6:15 p.m. 
(5 min.) 

4. Items 
Removed from 
Consent 
Calendar 

This time is set aside for discussion of items removed from the 
Consent Calendar. 

6:15 – 6:20 p.m. 
(5 min.) 

 

2



Agenda Item / 
What 

How / Action 
Underlined actions indicate that a vote is needed. 

When 

5. Humboldt 
Sawmill 
Biomass 
Discussion 

Action: Hear presentations by:  
• Wendy Ring, Humboldt Coalition for Clean 

Energy 
• Richard Engel, RCEA Power Resources 

Director reporting on RCEA’s Biomass 
Technical Advisory Group discussion  

• Dean Kerstetter, Humboldt Sawmill 
Company 

• Yana Valachovic, Forest Advisor, UC 
Cooperative Extension in Humboldt & Del 
Norte Counties 

• Brian Wilson, North Coast Unified Air 
Quality Management District 

Discuss and make a recommendation 
to RCEA’s Board of Directors. 

6:20 – 7:20 p.m. 
(60 min) 

6. Executive 
Director’s 
Report 

Action: Hear an update from RCEA Executive 
Director Matthew Marshall. 

7:20 – 7:25 p.m. 
(5 min) 

7. Member and 
Board Liaison 
Reports 

This time is provided for Committee members and 
the Board Liaison to share information on topics not 
on the agenda. At the end of member reports, the 
Executive Director will set requests requiring action 
to a future agenda or refer requests to staff or the 
Board. 

7.1. Board Liaison 

7.2. Committee Members 

7:25 – 7:30 p.m. 
(5 min.) 

8. Close & 
Adjourn  7:30 p.m. 

 

NEXT REGULAR CAC MEETING – Tuesday, May 14, 2024, 6 - 7:30 p.m. 
Jefferson Community Center Auditorium, 1000 B Street, Eureka, CA 95501. 

3



 
 

This page 
intentionally 

left blank. 

4



 

COMMUNITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
STAFF REPORT 
Agenda Item # 1 

 
AGENDA DATE: March 12, 2024 
TO: RCEA Community Advisory Committee 
FROM: Eileen Verbeck, Deputy Executive Director 
SUBJECT: Member Teleconference Participation 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
The COVID-19 State of Emergency ended on February 28, 2023, and RCEA Board and CAC 
meetings returned to meeting in-person at a physical location, with allowances under existing 
Brown Act rules or new AB 2449 Brown Act rules should a Board or CAC member need to 
participate from a remote location for certain reasons. If another state of emergency is declared, 
these bodies may be able to return to completely remote meetings.   

SUMMARY 

CAC members may attend up to two meetings per year from a remote location without making 
the location accessible to the public for the following reasons: 

1. “Just cause”  
a. To provide childcare or caregiving need to a child, parent, grandparent, 

grandchild, sibling, spouse, or domestic partner; 
b. Due to a contagious illness that prevents the member from attending in-person; 
c. Due to a need related to a physical or mental disability as defined in Government 

Code sections 12926 and 12926.1 not otherwise accommodated; and 
d. Due to travel while on official business of the legislative body or another state or 

local agency. 
2. “Emergency circumstance” due to a physical or family medical emergency that prevents 

the member from attending in person.  

If the CAC member would like to attend the meeting remotely due to an emergency 
circumstance, the committee will take action by majority vote to approve the member’s remote 
participation. A vote is not necessary for a request to attend remotely for just cause. A brief 
description, protecting the member’s (or member’s family member’s) medical privacy, needs to 
be provided in both cases. 

The remotely participating CAC member needs to publicly disclose at the meeting before any 
action (vote) is taken, whether anyone 18 years of age or older is present in the room at the 
remote location with the member, and the general nature of the individual’s relationship with the 
CAC member. 

5



If the CAC member anticipates needing to participate remotely for more than 2 meetings per 
year or for non-just cause or emergency reasons, staff recommends arranging for a publicly and 
ADA accessible space with visual and audio meeting capabilities from which to participate in 
keeping with previous Brown Act teleconference meeting requirements.  

Staff asks to be notified one-week in advance, if possible, of remote meeting attendance so the 
member’s publicly and ADA accessible remote meeting address can be published in the 
agenda, as may be required per Brown Act open meeting laws. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
Approve teleconference participation request for this meeting by committee member pursuant to 
Brown Act revisions of AB 2449 due to an emergency circumstance to be briefly described. 

6



 

Redwood Coast Energy Authority 
633 3rd Street, Eureka, CA 95501  
Phone: (707) 269-1700 Toll-Free (800) 931-7323 Fax: (707) 269-1777 
E-mail: info@redwoodenergy.org       Web: www.redwoodenergy.org 

 
 

COMMUNITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE SPECIAL MEETING 
DRAFT MINUTES 

February 13, 2024 - Tuesday, 6 - 7:30 p.m. 
Community Advisory Committee Chair Dennis Leonardi called the hybrid in-person and 
teleconference meeting to order on the above date at 6:01 p.m. at the Jefferson Community 
Center auditorium, 1000 B Street, Eureka, CA. The agenda for this meeting was posted on 
February 9, 2024. 
 
Members present: 
 

Norman Bell Ethan Lawton 
Deborah Dukes Dennis Leonardi, Chair 
Colin Fiske Kit Mann (arrived 6:13 p.m.) 
Larry Goldberg Emily Morris (remote participation) 
Richard Johnson Jerome Qiriazi 
Luna Latimer Jeff Trirogoff 

 
Members absent: Elizabeth Burks, Christopher Honar  
 
Board Liaison present: Kris Mobley (non-voting) 
 
Staff present: 
Jamie Boone, Account Services Specialist 
Stephen Kullmann, Demand-Side Management Director 
Sarah Lorenzini, Account Services Associate 
Sally Regli, Account Services Manager  
Lori Taketa, Board Clerk 
Eileen Verbeck, Deputy Executive Director 
 
Chair Leonardi introduced new CAC member Deborah Dukes, RCEA intern Sarah 
Lorenzini, Account Services Specialist Jamie Boone and prospective CAC members Auriah 
Milanes and Pliny McCovey. 
 
Consent Calendar 

3.1. Approve November 14, 2023, CAC Meeting Minutes. 
 

Member Bell asked staff to clarify the description of Dr. Wendy Ring’s citizen science air 
quality monitoring comment. Chair Leonardi closed the comment period. 
 
Motion Goldberg, Second Qiriazi: Approve November 14, 2023, CAC meeting 
minutes. 

7

mailto:info@redwoodenergy.org
http://www.redwoodenergy.org/


 

 
The motion passed with the following vote: Ayes: Bell, Fiske, Goldberg, Johnson, 
Latimer, Lawton, Leonardi, Morris, Qiriazi, Trirogoff. Noes: None. Abstain: Dukes. 
Absent: Burks, Honar. Mann. 
 
5. CAC Annual Report and Work Goals  
Deputy Executive Director Verbeck reported. The Annual Report Subcommittee 
reviewed the annual report and the committee gave initial input on continuing the 
previous year’s work goals at the November CAC meeting. Demand-Side Management 
Director Kullmann will ask the Programs Outreach Subcommittee for input on solar + 
battery storage incentives to help counteract the Net Billing Tariff’s dampening effects 
on solar energy adoption. Staff will ask the Critical Facilities Subcommittee to help 
develop a transparent method to prioritize critical facilities for resilience funding after 
work for a grant to install solar and battery storage at remote fire stations subsides. No 
member of the public commented on this agenda item.   
 
Motion Latimer, Second Lawton: Adopt Community Advisory Committee annual 
report and CAC 2024-25 work goals for presentation to the RCEA Board of Directors 
for approval on February 22, 2024. 
 
The motion passed with the following vote: Ayes: Fiske, Goldberg, Johnson, 
Latimer, Lawton, Leonardi, Mann, Morris, Qiriazi. Noes: None. Abstain: Bell, Dukes, 
Trirogoff. Absent: Burks, Honar. 
 
6. Rate Increase Messaging Input 
Account Services Manager Regli presented information about the current electricity rate 
increases and public messaging on the RCEA website. Members offered feedback on how 
to make the information more understandable and useful by simplifying the language, 
highlighting RCEA’s benefits to the community, differentiating RCEA from PG&E, and 
featuring ways people can control their electricity bills prominently. Members requested 
links to information for business, agriculture and solar customers.  
 
Member of the public and contractor Auriah Milanes pointed to shortcomings of RCEA’s 
rates being tied to rates set by a for-profit, investor-owned utility, and suggested the rate 
increase webpage include a pie chart on the generation rate increase causes. Chair 
Leonardi closed the comment period. 
 
7. Policy Platform Input 
Regulatory and Legislative Policy Manager Faith Carlson described the purpose of the 
Policy Platform and the process to develop it. She reviewed this year’s proposed changes.  
 
Members expressed:  

• Appreciation for including transmission and distribution access advocacy in the 
platform,  

• A request for platform language advocating for policies that further RePower 
strategic plan goals, even when RCEA has no operational control over those policy 

8



 

areas, and 
• An observation that purchasing power from Humboldt Sawmill Company goes 

against RePower strategic plan goals.  
 
There were no public comments on this agenda item. 
 
8. Deputy Executive Director’s Report 
Deputy Executive Director Verbeck reported on committee member reappointments and 
the Board’s formation of a CAC at-large nomination subcommittee to recommend 
appointees at their March meeting. CAC Chair and Vice Chair appointments will be made 
at the May CAC meeting due to delays in filling the many expiring and new seats.  
 
The March CAC meeting will be dedicated to a discussion of RCEA’s power purchase 
agreement with Humboldt Sawmill Company. As requested, the CAC will have the 
opportunity following the presentations and discussion to make recommendations to the 
RCEA Board of Directors. 
 
9. Member and Board Liaison Reports 
Director Mobley expressed appreciation for CAC members’ passionate engagement and 
knowledge and will communicate to the Board the committee members’ requests to 
appoint a Rio Dell CAC member. 
 
Member Latimer requested SWELL program messaging to share with the public in 
response to queries she has received. Vice Chair Qiriazi stated he was leaving the CAC 
after eight years of service and expressed appreciation to the group for the work they do. 
Member Lawton expressed support for internships at RCEA, thanked outgoing CAC 
members for their work and requested certificates of appreciation for exiting members. 
 
Chair Leonardi adjourned the meeting at 7:36 p.m. 
 
 
 
Lori Taketa 
Clerk of the Board  

9



 
 

This page 
intentionally 

left blank. 

10



 

STAFF REPORT 
Agenda Item # 5 

 
 

AGENDA DATE: March 12, 2024 
TO: Community Advisory Committee 
FROM: Richard Engel, Power Resources Director 

Eileen Verbeck, Deputy Executive Director 
SUBJECT: Humboldt Sawmill Biomass Discussion 

 
BACKGROUND 

In response to concerns expressed by community members at previous Community Advisory 
Committee meetings, CAC members requested an opportunity to hear presentations by 
biomass energy, public health and other biomass-related stakeholders from Humboldt County. 
Most concerns are specific to emissions from the Humboldt Sawmill Company’s (HSC) Scotia 
biomass plant that provides about 20% of RCEA’s electric portfolio for its Community Choice 
Energy (CCE) program. CAC members further requested the opportunity to make a 
recommendation to the RCEA Board of Directors in response to information heard by the CAC. 

Since launching its CCE program in 2017, with biomass included as part of the portfolio since 
inception, RCEA has made several adjustments to the CCE program in response to community 
concerns about emissions: 

• A clause was included in RCEA’s power purchase agreement from the outset in 2017 
allowing RCEA to terminate the agreement if HSC fails on a continuing basis to operate 
its plant in compliance with applicable laws. 

• In updating its strategic plan in 2019, RCEA added several bioenergy-related strategies, 
including: 

o creation of a Biomass Technical Advisory Group (BTAG)  
o investigation of the impacts of biomass emissions 
o planning for a long-term transition away from direct combustion of forest-derived 

biomass and toward lower-impact uses of biomass. 
• RCEA established the BTAG in 2023 with membership representing diverse 

stakeholders and convened meetings of the group to seek guidance on topics related to 
local biomass energy. 

• Acting on the strategic plan goal to investigate biomass emissions, RCEA staff with 
support from the North Coast Unified Air Quality Management District have begun to 
deploy ambient air quality sensors in the vicinity of the HSC plant and elsewhere. Data 
and findings from this project will be made public. 

• RCEA engaged Humboldt State University’s (now Cal Poly Humboldt) senior capstone 
engineering class in 2020 to analyze alternative uses of local biomass; the class’s 

11



findings are now posted on RCEA’s website (https://redwoodenergy.org/power-
resources/). 

• RCEA entered into a memorandum of understanding with HSC in 2021 under which 
HSC provides annual reporting to RCEA on its feedstock use and sources, power 
production, and emissions, as well as HSC’s efforts to investigate alternative uses for 
the residual material produced by its sawmill. The reports are made available to the 
BTAG and the CAC for review before being presented to the RCEA Board. 

• Members of RCEA’s Board of Directors and Community Advisory Committee have 
toured the HSC sawmill and power plant to better understand how these facilities are 
operated and how emissions are controlled. 

• RCEA adjusted its premium REpower+ portfolio beginning in 2021 to exclude biomass; 
this portfolio which is available for an added cost of $0.01/kWh above RCEA’s base 
REpower portfolio (equivalent to about $5 per month for an average residential account) 
now includes only carbon-free renewable resources. If enough RCEA customers opted 
up to REpower+, RCEA’s need for biomass power in its portfolio could be substantially 
reduced. 

SUMMARY 

At this meeting, the Community Advisory Committee will hear presentations by: 
• Wendy Ring, Humboldt Coalition for Clean Energy 
• Richard Engel, RCEA Power Resources Director reporting on RCEA’s Biomass Technical 

Advisory Group’s discussion on this issue 
• Dean Kerstetter, Humboldt Sawmill Company 
• Yana Valachovic, Forest Advisor, UC Cooperative Extension in Humboldt & Del Norte 

Counties 
• Brian Wilson, North Coast Unified Air Quality Management District. 

 
On March 1, 2024, RCEA convened a meeting of its Biomass Technical Advisory Group. 
Among other participants, attendees included representatives of Humboldt Sawmill Company, 
the North Coast Unified Air Quality Management District, and local environmental groups that 
have raised air quality concerns. This provided a forum for participants including RCEA staff to 
better understand how the NCUAQMD enforces air quality regulations, what measures HSC is 
taking to control or reduce its emissions, and where the environmental groups perceive 
shortcomings in air quality enforcement. 

The RCEA Board of Directors has asked to receive a report on the outcomes of the Biomass 
Technical Advisory Group’s discussion and follow-up discussion by the CAC on this topic at the 
Board’s March 28 meeting. 

 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
Discuss and make a recommendation to RCEA’s Board of Directors.  
 
 

12

https://redwoodenergy.org/power-resources/
https://redwoodenergy.org/power-resources/


March 12, 2024
RCEA Community 

Advisory Committee 
Regular Meeting

Biomass Discussion 
Materials for Review

External link disclaimer: 
This submitted material contains links to external websites and/or file sharing 
services. RCEA cannot guarantee that these links will work in the future or that the 
material to which they link is unchanged from the time of the relevant RCEA 
meeting.



From: Jeff Trirogoff
To: Lori Taketa
Subject: Fwd: Biomass info/links
Date: Thursday, February 15, 2024 9:33:10 AM

Lori,

I was on a zoom call last night with Dr. Wendy Ring and she wanted to share this information
with all the CAC members, in advance of the March 2024 meeting on the biomass
meeting/discussion.  I asked her to send me the information so I can share it with the others.

Is it okay for me to forward this to all the CAC members?

Please advise.
---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Wendy Ring 
Date: Thu, Feb 15, 2024 at 9:20 AM
Subject: Biomass info/links
To: Sue Y. Lee  Jeff Trirogoff , Ellen
Taylor Julie Doerner  Carl

Marthawalden  nancy ihara

It was great to see you at the biomass talk.  Here are some of the
resources you requested.   Please let me know if I left anything out. 

Sign up to get notices from RCEA for their Board and Community Advisory
Board meetings 
We'll also send you reminders and how-to's before each important 
meeting.  

Link to Google Drive folder with video and slides of our "Biomass 101" 
presentation (https://drive.google.com/drive/
folders/17EAsdrRWAO8D6VVTMrm88Aof0BX29EHl?usp=drive_link)

Our website   humboldtcleanenergy.org    Our calendar also has info on 
upcoming presentations and meetings of RCEA and Air District

Upcoming presentations    please help spread the word
Tonight  2/15 7pm    Biomass 101    http://tinyurl.com/57c7pxjc  
Tuesday 2/20 7 pm   Biomass 101:  the Love Gone Terribly Wrong version  
http://tinyurl.com/496b5tzb 
Tuesday 2/27 7 pm   Biomass 101    http://tinyurl.com/543tfak8

Wendy Ring

https://redwoodenergy.us13.list-manage.com/subscribe?u=2852110040433b5678741a2af&id=105a6ec190
https://redwoodenergy.us13.list-manage.com/subscribe?u=2852110040433b5678741a2af&id=105a6ec190
http://humboldtcleanenergy.org/


Stories of climate action from the bottom up
with Cool Solutions Podcast

-- 
Building a happy and healthy future,
Jeff Trirogoff

http://cool-solutions.org/


North Coast Unified Air Quality Management District 
March 12, 2024 RCEA CAC Meeting 

Summary of Recent Humboldt Sawmill Company (HSC) Compliance Issues 

Citizen Complaints Received (2021 - present) 

• About 20 complaints have been received in the Scotia/Rio Dell area over the last three years - (1) in 2021,
(11) in 2022, (8) in 2023, (0) to date for 2024. Of these, most were attributed to HSC and some appeared to
be as a result of breakdown conditions at the HSC plant.

Notices of Violation (NOVs) issued (2019 - present) 

2019: 
► None issued.

2020: 

2021: 

1) NOV #13193 issued for excess fugitive dust discharged from Fly Ash Silo. The violation occurred on
January 3, 2020.

2) NOV #13265, issued for exceeding the 24-hr average carbon monoxide (CO) emission limitations from
Boiler C (Equipment Permit #NS-076), whereby the Tier 3 limits were exceeded. The violation occurred
on December 25, 2020.

1) NOV #13268, issued for 3 exceedances of the 24-hr average carbon monoxide (CO) emission limitations
from Boiler C (Equipment Permit #NS-076), whereby the Tier 3 limits were exceeded. These violations
occurred on April 27, April 28, and May 31, 2021.

2) NOV #13269, issued for excessive fugitive dust emissions from the shavings/storage bin and conveyor
associated with Planer & Trimmer (Equipment Permit #937-2). The violation occurred on June 18, 2021.

► Possible NOVs pending as a result of Full Compliance Evaluation** analysis for the 2021-22 period.
2022: 

1) NOV #14250, issued for an exceeding the 24-hr average of the total particulate matter (TPM) emission
limitation of Boiler A (Equipment Permit #NS-0174) as determined by onsite source test on September
15, 2022.

2) NOV#14251, issued for an exceeding the 24-hr average total particulate matter (TPM) emission limitation
of Boiler C (Equipment Permit #NS-076) as determined by onsite source test on September 14, 2022.

3) NOV #14252, issued for exceeding the federal filterable particulate matter (FPM) emission limitation
(Boiler NESHAP*) of Boiler A on September 15, 2022, and the continued operation of Boiler A thereafter,
for a total of 68 days of operation, until the demonstration of continuous compliance was achieved on
November 29, 2022.

► Possible NOVs pending as a result of Full Compliance Evaluation** analysis for the 2021-22 period.
2023: 

1) NOV #14038, issued for 3 exceedances of the 24-hr average carbon monoxide (CO) emission limitations
from Boiler A (Equipment Permit #NS-074), whereby the Tier 3 limit was exceeded. These violations
occurred on January 14, January 19, and January 22, 2023.

2) NOV #14039, issued for 7 exceedances of the 24-hr average CO emission limitations of Boiler C
(Equipment Permit #NS-076), where one exceedance exceeded the allowance within the Tier 3 limit, and
the others exceeded the Tier 3 limit. These violations occurred on January 4, January 10th through
January 14th, and on January 18, 2023.

3) NOV #14040, issued for 15 exceedances of opacity limitations for Boiler C (Equipment Permit #NS-076),
where averaging periods exceed the 10% daily average opacity limitation (Boiler NESHAP*), and
averaging periods that exceeded 20% opacity as allowed by permit #NS-076, Condition lll(A). These
violations occurred on January 4 and on January 19, 2023.

Page 1 of 3 



North Coast Unified Air Quality Management District 
March 12, 2024 RCEA CAC M!leling 

4) NOV #14041, issued for 32 exceedances of opacity limitations for Boiler C (Equipment Permit #NS-076), 
where averaging periods exceeded 20% opacity as allowed by permit #NS-076, Condition lll(A), and 
where averaging periods exceeded 40% opacity as allowed by District Regulation 1, Rule 104. These 
violations occurred on February 15, 2023. 

5) NOV #14042, issued for exceeding opacity limitations of Boiler B (Equipment Permit #NS-075), whereby 
an averaging period exceeded 27% opacity during an hour of operation on February 13, 2023. 

6) NOV #14045, issued for 3 exceedances of opacity limitations for Boiler C (Equipment Permit #NS-076), 
the average periods exceeded the 10% daily average opacity limitation (Boiler NESHAP*), and whereby 
averaging periods exceeded 27% opacity during two separate hours of operation on March 25, 2023. 

7) NOV #14046, issued for 3 exceedances of the federal 10% daily average opacity limitation (Boiler 
NESHAP*) for Boiler C (Equipment Permit #NS-076). These violations occurred on March 26, March 27, 
and March 28, 2023. 

8) NOV #14047, issued for 2 exceedances of opacity limitations for Boiler A (Equipment Permit #NS-074), 
in which averaging periods exceeded 27% opacity during two separate hours of operation on March 28, 
2023. 

9) NOV #14048, issued for exceeding opacity limitations of Boiler B (Equipment Permit #NS-075), whereby 
an averaging period exceeded 27% opacity during an hour of operation on March 17, 2023. 

10) NOV #14049, issued for 3 exceedances of the federal 10% daily average opacity limitation (Boiler 
NESHAP*) for Boiler C (Equipment Permit #NS-076). These violations occurred on April 9, April 1 O, and 
April 11, 2023. 

11) NOV #14201, issued for violations of District Regulation 1, Rule 102, Required Permits (A)(B)(C), for 
constructing aggregate processing equipment ( crusher, screener, associated conveyors) without 
Authority to Construct permits and operating said equipment without Permit(s) to Operate. 

12) NOV #14203, issued for exceeding the federal 10% daily average opacity limitation (Boiler NESHAP*) for 
Boiler C (Equipment Permit #NS-076) which occurred on May 1, 2023. 

13) NOV #14253, issued for late submittal of permit renewal application for renewal of Title V Operating 
Permit. District Rule requires renewal application be submitted 6 months before the permit expiration 
date of July 28, 2023, where the renewal application was received on May 12, 2023 (2 months prior the 
permit expiration date) in violation of Rule 502(8)(2). 

2024 (as of March 12, 2024) 
► None issued. 

NOVs that are High Priority Violations (HPVs) of Clean Air Act (CAA): 

• All CAA violations are important, however HPVs warrant additional scrutiny and tracking by the EPA HPVs 
focus on CAA violations that are the most likely to be significant for human health and the environment or for 
maintenance of strong CAA programs. 

• High Priority Violation criteria apply to those violations that are federally enforceable such as those related to 
obtaining a New Source Review (NSR) permit, emission limitations, emission standards or operating 
parameters, New Source Performance Standards (NSPS), National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air 
Pollutants (NESHAP), or facility source testing. The criterion generally includes violations that, while not 
necessarily continuous for 168 hours, recur (or recurred) regularly or intermittently for at least seven days, 
and a violation is considered ongoing unless there is sufficient evidence to conclude that the violation is no 
longer ongoing and is unlikely to recur. 

• Several of HSC's violations are considered High Priority Violations: 
• 2021: NOVs #14250, #14251, #14252 
• 2023: NOV #14039 

Page 2 of 3 



North Coast Unified Air Quality Management District 
March 12, 2024 RCEA CAC Meeting 

* National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants (NESHAP) - 40 CFR Part 63; Subpart DDDDD is also known as the 
Boiler MACT. 

** Full Compliance Evaluation - a Clean Air Act evaluation that can be either a Full Compliance Evaluation (FCE) or a Partial Compliance 
Evaluation (PCE). An FCE is a comprehensive evaluation of the compliance status of the facility performed typically once every two 
years. It looks for all regulated pollutants at all regulated emission units, and it addresses the compliance status of each unit, as well as 
the facility's continuing ability to maintain compliance at each emission unit. An FCE includes: 

a) a review of all required reports and the underlying records; 
b) an assessment of air pollution control devices and operating conditions; 
c) observing visible emissions; a review of facility records and operating logs; 
d) an assessment of process parameters, such as feed rates, raw material compositions, and process rates; and a stack test if there 

is no other way to determine compliance with the emission limits. 

An FCE may be accomplished through a series of Partial Compliance Evaluations (PCE). A PCE is a documented compliance 
assessment focusing on a subset of regulated pollutants, regulatory requirements, or emission units at a given facility. A PCE should be 
more comprehensive than a cursory review of individual reports. It may be conducted solely for the purpose of evaluating a specific 
aspect of a facility or it may combine several evaluations to satisfy the annual requirements of a FCE. 

Page 3 of 3 



March 12, 2024
RCEA Community 

Advisory Committee 
Regular Meeting

Biomass Discussion 
Presentation Slides



Humboldt Coalition for Clean Energy
350 Humboldt

Humboldt Unitarian Climate Action Campaign
EPIC

Northcoast Environmental Center
Women's Intl League for Peace and Freedom-Humboldt

Humboldt Health Care for All
Buddhist Peace Fellowship

HOPE Coalition
Redwood Alliance
Lost Coast League

Sierra Club Redwoods North Group
Friends of the Eel River
Humboldt Green Party

Humboldt Democratic Central Committee
Humboldt Progressive Democrats

Climate Health Now
CA Alliance for Retired Americans-North State

CA Nurses for Environmental Health and Justice



Biomass is 40% of RCEA's Renewable Portfolio 

 

Biomass

Solar

Wind

Small Hydro

BIOMASS

SOLAR

WIND

RCEA

CO2e = 88%
of county's
car emissions

County's
biggest
polluter



RCEA’s Broken Promises
“100% clean and renewable” by 2025

Ensure biomass plant compliance with environmental law 
both in selection and retention

Biomass RFO Guidelines 2016,  RCEA Board Minutes 2019,  
RCEA Integrated Resource Plans 2020 & 2022, ,RCEA website 2024

Our ask:  

Terminate biomass contract, replace with 
clean energy by 2025. 



 
 

2023  1.5C
 
 
 
 

10 years: 5 Irreversible Global Tipping Points
 
 

 500 scientists to world leaders re biomass:
“Regrowth takes time the world does not have.”

 
 

 
 
UNEP 2023;   McKay et al.  2022; Lamboll et al 2023  



Sources:  CPUC, CARB         

Scotia Biomassinc max
upstrea
m



Efficiency when new  24% 

38 years later  14%
NREL, CA Energy Commission

 

 

To produce 1 kw of electricity today, the plant must burn nearly 
twice as much wood as it did in 1989

Heat Rate = amount of heat or fuel needed to generate 1 kwh



RCEA'S Power Content Label 

Generation from: CEC  Quarterly Fuel and Energy Report
Facility GHG from: CARB  

Repower GHG including
biomass CO2e @ 5,233 
lb/MWh





>80 AIR TOXICS 

Benzene
Formaldehyde
Acrolein
Dioxin 
Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons 

(PAH)

EPA,  AP-42 1.6 Wood Residue Combustion in 
Boilers

Cancer, Endocrine disruption
Respiratory irritant
COPD
Highly Toxic, Cancer,  

Developmental Neurotoxin
Childhood asthma, crosses 

placenta -lower IQ, obesity 
 
 

Most Significant Effects



Particulates:  SIZE MATTERS

What Purple Air Won't Tell You 

Dementia
Other Cancers 
Low birth weight
Developmental damage
Diabetes
Kidney Disease

              
                 MOST MONITORS 
                 DON’T SEE THESE

PM 10          PM 2.5      1      0.1

Asthma
Pneumonia
COPD
Lung 
Cancer

Strokes
Heart 
Attacks

MOST BIOMASS PARTICULATES IN THIS RANGE



ACTUAL POLLUTION 2021
Humboldt Sawmill Biomass vs PGE Natural Gas 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

PM CO NOx SOx

SAWMILL BIOMASS

PGE GAS

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

14000

16000

ACROLEIN BENZENE FORMALDEH

CRITERIA POLLUTANTS (tons) AIR TOXICS   pounds

California Air Resource Board

Incomplete 
combustion!!!



How much allowed to emit?  Boiler MACT

 

0.0295

0.03

0.0305

0.031

0.0315

0.032

0.0325

0.033

0.0335

0.034

0.0345

PARTICULATES LB/MMBTU

BIOMASS

COAL

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

CO ppm

BIOMASS

COAL

PARTICULATES
Pounds/mmBTU

CARBON MONOXIDE
(proxy for air toxics) 
      ppm

EPA Boiler MACT

Maximum Achievable Control Technology
             average emissions of the cleanest 12%



. 

Pollution Controls          Continuous monitors
   
 



FOR PERSPECTIVE

Statewide Air Pollution from Electricity in 2026 
   

     Biomass: 4% of generation

          51% of NOx
          44% of PM2.5
          54% of SO2

CPUC, 2024



Pollutant Emissions per Kilowatt Hour 

US Power Plant Averages & Humboldt Sawmill Co   

Argonne Natl Lab, 2020; CARB 2021; CEC Quarterly Fuel and Energy Report, 
2021

 

*



Humboldt Del Norte Medical Society



Statewide Study on Proximity
   7-8 additional respiratory ER  

visits per month from 
Scotia/Rio Dell

Humboldt County Health Dept; Lee, 2021 



COMPUTER MODELING
Emissions + Demographics + 
Dispersion + Risk
EPA’s Co Benefit Risk 
Assessment for PM2.5
TOTAL DAMAGES

 $4-9 million annually
EPA COBRA, CARB 2021

OEHHA’s Air Dispersion and 
Modeling Risk Tool for Air 
Toxics

       

BIG DATA

All US  Medicare/United 
HealthCare

Every ug/m3 increases

Hospitalizations

Premature Deaths 

No Safe Levels

No Safe Places



Step 2: Triggered by Score > 50
 Scotia biomass plant's score is 5,999 

  Every 4 years.   Step 1: Prioritization Score                

Health Risk Assessment
that belongs here is
 20+ years overdue



CHILDREN AND ELDERS
 
BABIES IN UTERO

LOW INCOME  

NONWHITE   

CHRONIC DISEASE
  

Biomass plant within 6 miles of home
 
Worse Asthma
 
More Missed School Days
 
Higher Drop out Rate
 
Lower Adult Income, Shorter Life Expectancy

Non “High Priority” pollution causes 
life-changing and life-ending harm

74% disadvantaged, 1 in 5 chronically absent



Exporting Injustice 



The Run-up to the Contract  2016
Humboldt Redwood Co. 
Had just restarted plant

Ran for 12 months with  
broken pollution controls. 
Withheld the evidence       
(air district let them)
Submitted bid stating no 
biomass violations. 

RCEA
Divorced PGE
Biomass guidelines:
Regulatory compliance a 
major criterion 



     

February 2017  >1000 High Priority Violations 
March 2017   
RCEA voted for contract   
HRC signed, claiming “good standing” with regulators   
 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Under RCEA Contract
2017-2023 

Clean Water Act Violations 
Too numerous to count

   Sediment and pollutants discharged into the Eel 

“due to the volume of violations, the specific 
individual violations are often represented by an 
example” Regional Water Board, 2022



AIR VIOLATIONS (cited)

             HUMBOLDT 

Humboldt Sawmill   292

 

Humboldt PGE Plant     0

SHASTA 
Burney Forest Products 1
Sierra Pacific Shasta  1
Sierra Pacific Burney  1
Sustainable Resource Mgmt 1
Wheelabrator Shasta        1
Sierra Pacific Anderson 85



 Violations Not Cited  
 

  
    



FIVE YEARS 
Missing EPA-required QA on Opacity Monitors

365 days x 5 years x 3 monitors = 5,475 VIOLATIONS

EPA High Priority:  interferes with regulators’ ability to assess compliance. 
 
 



Five Years Enforcing Outdated Carbon Monoxide Limits
               
                        Days Operating with Carbon Monoxide Over EPA Limit  



255 DAYS and counting

Operating Without a Federal Permit  

Lax permitting contributes to use of outdated regulations

 



 

 
 
 

 

2025 – 2035



Top ranked 
portfolio

No biomass.
Lowest GHG

RCEA asked. Humboldt residents said no biomass. 

Humboldt's Energy Future Events 2023



RCEA has 118 clean MW coming online by 2025 

RCEA RPS Procurement Plan   8/23



  97% of solar projects in CAISO queue include storage
 CAISO 2023; LBNL, 2023
         

“The volume (of solar + storage) seeking in-service dates 
of 2026 or earlier is over 10 times the amount required.”
                                                                                               

 CAISO 2023; LBNL, 2023



RMI, July  2023

While clean power prices fall, biomass’s built-in 
annual price increase leads to $98/Mwh by 2031



 
If we don't buy it, someone else will.



Discussion of HSC Biomass Plant Emissions 
by RCEA’s Biomass Technical Advisory Group

Presentation to RCEA Community Advisory Committee
March 12, 2024



Background: Why RCEA procures biomass power
• Biomass is considered renewable (like wind, solar, small hydro and other 

resources) per the State’s Renewables Portfolio Standard
• Biomass was the only existing utility-scale renewable resource available locally 

when RCEA launched its community choice energy program in 2017
• Development of other local renewables has been challenging (e.g. Terra-Gen 

wind)
• Biomass helps RCEA to comply with SB 100 (increasing renewables year by year)
• Biomass helps RCEA to comply with SB 350 (65%+ of SB 100 renewables from 10+ 

year contracts or owned resources)
• Biomass provides round-the-clock, all-season baseload power, complementary to 

intermittent (wind, solar) and seasonal (small hydro) renewables
• Although originally procured at above-market prices, today RCEA’s biomass 

contract is market-competitive (RCEA renegotiated contract price ↓; market 
price later went ↑)



RCEA has made program adjustments in response to 
biomass concerns

• Contract termination clause for continuing failure to comply with laws
• Updated (2019) strategic plan calls for creation of a biomass advisory group 

(has met 2 times), investigation of emissions, and planning for a long-term 
transition to lower impact uses of biomass feedstock

• RCEA and HSC have adopted a memorandum of understanding to increase 
transparency re: HSC feedstock, energy production, emissions, and 
alternative biomass uses; have completed two annual reporting cycles

• RCEA adjusted its REpower+ premium portfolio in 2021 to no longer 
include biomass (costs about $5/month per household to opt up)

• With NCUAQMD support, RCEA has begun deploying ambient air quality 
sensors in the Scotia/Rio Dell area and elsewhere



Past analysis and discussion 
of RCEA’s biomass 

procurement

https://redwoodenergy.org/power-resources/



Biomass Technical Advisory Group met March 1 to 
discuss community concerns re: HSC emissions
Attendees (in person/online)
• Dennis Leonardi, CAC chair and BTAG meeting facilitator
• Brian Wilson and Jason Davis, North Coast Unified Air Quality Management District
• Dean Kerstetter, Humboldt Sawmill Company
• Tom Wheeler, Environmental Protection Information Center
• Yana Valachovic, UC Cooperative Extension
• Roberto Beltran, US Forest Service/Klamath National Forest
• Daniel Chandler, 350 Humboldt
• Clarke Stevenson, The Watershed Center
• Kevin Fingerman, Cal Poly Humboldt
• Elishia Hayes, County of Humboldt Chief Administrative Officer 
• RCEA staff



BTAG members discussed several key topics

• Claims regarding HSC’s emissions from Humboldt Coalition for Clean 
Energy and 350 Humboldt

• How proactive should RCEA be to determine if HSC is in compliance with 
applicable laws?

• In the event of contract termination, would the HSC plant keep 
producing power at current output?

• If the HSC plant were to reduce or cease operation, what would become 
of the biomass residues?

An additional question was presented but not discussed due to time constraints: If no alternative 
use of biomass residuals is feasible (for technical, economic, or permitting reasons), could lack of 
residual disposal options impact the viability of the local forest products industry?



Some key takeaways from the BTAG discussion

• HSC is currently operating under a valid Title V operating permit from the 
NCUAQMD, though they may be penalized for submitting their renewal 
application later than required

• NCUAQMD states that HSC is operating in compliance.

• NCUAQMD is working to complete testing of the plant’s emissions that, 
depending on findings, could lead to an assessment of actual health 
impacts from the plant’s operation



Some key takeaways from the BTAG discussion

• HSC stated in the absence of a contract with RCEA, they would maintain 
operation and immediately begin selling power to PG&E

• There is disagreement over whether HSC’s emissions are consistent with 
those of other comparable biomass plants in the state; there are some 
complexities to making such comparisons

• There should be more discussion of how important RCEA’s local 
procurement goal is if cleaner non-local power is available

• The BTAG asked to review the violation data from NCUAQMD and have 
NCUAQMD label the violations regarding severity.

• The BTAG did not come to an agreement on recommendations.



Analysis of impacts if RCEA were to terminate HSC contract

• RCEA’s consultant The Energy Authority modeled 3 scenarios for 
replacing the HSC biomass contract with other renewable resources 

• All of these scenarios would leave RCEA in worse financial position by 
$50+M between 2024 and 2031 compared to keeping HSC contract

• Financial harm comes mainly from 1) penalties for temporary non-
compliance with SB 350 long-term renewables procurement until 
replacement projects come online and 2) increased cost for procuring 
required resource adequacy



RCEA Community Advisory Committee Meeting
March 12, 2024

1. Presentations (8 minutes each)
2. Committee clarifying questions
3. Public comment (3 minutes each)
4. Committee recommendation discussion 

5. Humboldt Sawmill Company Biomass 
Discussion



Role of innovative wood products in forest 
resilience and climate adaptation

Yana Valachovic 
UC Cooperative Extension Forest Advisor, RPF# 2740

March 12, 2024

Redwood Coast Energy Authority 
Community Advisory Committee



North Coast: Forests and the Carbon Deep Sinks

Slide courtesy of John Battles (Wildfire 
Forest Resilience Task Force) 



Wildfires are transforming landscapes

2021 Antelope Fire, Klamath National Forest 
Courtesy: USDA FS August Fire, 2020

Camp Fire, 2018



Wildfires impact public health across California

Smoke exposure increases the risk of 
pre-term birth and other health 
problems

Smoke days are increasing
• San Jose +400% 
• Los Angeles +230%






Wildfires hurting our economy

• $150 billion loss in 2018
• $28 B in capital losses
• $32 B in health care costs
• $89 B in indirect losses

• Landfill service life is being shortened with 
fire debris

• Accelerated road wear and tear
• Insurance availability affects our future
• Tourism impacts

Embers swirl in the wind as a Paradise fast-food restaurant burns in the 
Camp Fire. (Justin Sullivan / Getty Images)

Hopkins Fire, 
Ukiah 2021



Proactive management protects communities 
and improves forest health

Bootleg Fire 2021

Photo: Courtesy Eric Knapp

No treatment

Thinning and Rx fire

Thinning



Graphic courtesy of the 
Sierra Institute for 
Community and the 
Environment

Four % of the state’s 
population manages 
most of California’s 

water and forest 
resources



Forest stewardship

BEFORE AFTER



Conclusion

• Rather than pitting biopower against other solutions, California needs 
to embrace a “Yes, and” approach to woody biomass. That is—

• Yes, we need to encourage wood product innovation for continued 
improvements in emissions, climate, and economic outcomes from 
biomass. 

• And, we need to continue to support existing emissions-controlled 
biopower. Because: 
1. The alternative is typically open pile burning, wildfire, or decomposition – all 

forms of emissions
2. New wood product innovations are not at sufficient scale and will need time 

to reach maturity in California



Lumber
Energy
Sm. Sawlogs
Fiber
Engineered



STAFF REPORT 
Agenda Item # 6 

AGENDA DATE: March 12, 2024 
TO: Community Advisory Committee 
FROM: Matthew Marshall, Executive Director 
SUBJECT: Executive Director’s Report 

SUMMARY 

Executive Director Matthew Marshall will provide updates on topics as needed. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

None. (Information only.) 

13



This page 
intentionally 

left blank. 

14


	1 - 0 March 12 2024 CAC Mtg Agenda
	1 - 1 Member Teleconference Participation Staff Report
	3 - 1 Feb 13 2024 DRAFT CAC Special Mtg Minutes
	5 - 1 Humboldt Sawmill Company Biomass Discussion Staff Report
	6 - 1 ED Report



